I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Assignments of Error: 

1. Trial court erred or abused its discretion when it ordered 

dismissal plaintiffs complaint unless plaintiff posted a bond, in the 

amount of $5000, within 90 days of the order and without entering a 

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. 

2. Trial court erred or abused its discretion when it overruled 

plaintiffs objections to defendant's untimely service of motion for 

bond under CR 6(d). 

3. Trial court erred or abused its discretion when it overruled 

plaintiffs objections to defendant's request for bond as being 

untimely and waived pursuant to holding of the Washington 

Supreme Court in Swift v. Stine, 3 Wash. Terr. 518 (Wash. Terr. 

1888). 

4. Trial court erred or abused its discretion when it denied 

plaintiffs motion for protective order, granted defendant's motion in 

limine, and prevented plaintiff from using transcript of his 

deposition under CR 32(a)(3) and without entry of a Findings of Fact 

and Conclusions of Law. 

5. The trial court erred when it granted defendant's motion in 

limine and prevented the plaintiff from using transcript of his 



deposition, pursuant to CR 32(a)(3), because the defendant waived 

his right, if any, to object plaintiffs use of the transcript under the 

decision of the Washington Supreme Court in Ford v. United 

Brotherhood of Carpenters and Joiners of America, 50 Wn.2d 832, 

315 P.2d 299 (1957)· 

6. Trial court erred or abused its discretion when it denied 

plaintiffs motion for terms and attorneys fees for bad faith dealings 

by the defendant and his insurance company in violations of RCW 

48.01.030 and for abuse of process for frivolous proceedings under 

RCW 4.84.185 and Court Rule CR 11. 

7. Trial court erred or abused its discretion in awarding 

attorney's fees and costs in the amount of $8755-40 against the 

plaintiff and in favor of the defendant. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error: 

a. Where, two years prior to day of the trial, the defendant, as 

the adverse party, took plaintiffs deposition over the Internet 

webcam and had notice of the fact that plaintiff lived in Turkey, and 

Where, three days prior to the trial, the defendant served his 

motion for bond pursuant to RCW 4.84.210, 

a.1. Did the trial court err or abused its discretion when 
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it ordered dismissal plaintiffs complaint unless 

plaintiff posted a bond, in the amount of $5000, within 

90 days of the order and without entering any Findings 

of Fact and Conclusions of Law? (error no. 1) 

a.2. Was the service of the motion for bond on 

plaintiffs attorney untimely pursuant to Rule CR 6(d)? 

(error no. 2). 

a.3. Was the defendant's request for bond waived 

pursuant to holding of the Washington Supreme Court 

in Swift v. Stine, 3 Wash. Terr. 518 (Wash. Terr. 1888)? 

(error no. 3). 

b. Where, two years prior to day of the trial, the defendant, as 

the adverse party, took plaintiffs deposition over the Internet webcam 

and had notice of the fact that plaintiff lived in Turkey, and 

Where, two weeks before the trial date, the defendant 

demanded trial attendance of the plaintiff in Everett Washington and 

filed his "motion in limine" to exclude use of transcript of plaintiffs 

deposition in lieu of his live testimony pursuant to CR 32(a)(3); 

b.l. Did the trial court err or abuse its discretion when it 

denied plaintiffs motion for protective order, granted 

defendant's motion in limine, and prevented plaintiff 
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from using transcript of his deposition (taken by the 

adverse party) in lieu of his live testimony at the trial and 

without entry of Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law? (error no. 4). 

b.2. Did the defendant waive his right, if any, to object 

plaintiffs use of the transcript, pursuant to CR 32(a)(3), 

under the decision of the Washington Supreme Court in 

Ford v. United Brotherhood o/Carpenters and Joiners 

0/ America, 50 Wn.2d 832, 315 P.2d 299 (1957)? (error 

no. 5). 

b.2. Did the trial court err or abuse its discretion when it 

denied plaintiffs motion for terms and attorney's fees for 

bad faith dealings by the defendant and his insurance 

company in violations of RCW 48.01.030 and for abuse 

of process for frivolous proceedings under RCW 4.84.185 

and Court Rule CR 11 ? (error no. 6). 

c. Did the trial court err or abuse its discretion in awarding 

attorney's fees and costs in the amount of $8755-40 against the 
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plaintiff and in favor of the defendant? (error no. 7). 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Mr. Vahit Saylik (SAYLIK), appellant/plaintiff, is a retired 

police chief in Ankara, Turkey. Saylik resides and lives there. 

During the relevant times, the adult son of Saylik was working 

for Boeing Airplane Company in Everett Washington. During the 

summer of year 2006, Vahit Saylik, together with the other members 

of his family, was visiting his son in Everett, Washington. 

On July 3, 2006, Saylik was riding and walking with his bicycle 

and crossing over the crosswalk near Harbour Pointe Blvd and State 

Route SR 525, in Mukilteo, Washington. Defendant-respondent, David 

Walker (WALKER), while trying to get onto State Route ST 525 near 

the crosswalk, hit Saylik with his motor vehicle over the crosswalk, 

knocked him to the ground and injured him. Others rushed to help 

Saylik. A fire truck and an ambulance came in and took Saylik to the 

hospital emergency room as they provided emergency treatment over 

his injuries (CP 147-154). 

The Complaint was filed on 10/15/2008 in Snohomish County 

Superior Court (CP 253-256). At that time, the undersigned attorney 

for Saylik was not aware of the fact that Saylik was not residing in 
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Washington but that he (with the rest of his family) was simply visiting 

his son in Everett (CP 147 & 253). 

Walker's attorney demanded to take a deposition of Saylik in 

their Everett office with notices dated 04-15-2009 and 07-29-2009. 

(CP 231 and 244). A number oftimes, Saylik's attorney informed them 

that Saylik was overseas and could not be in their Everett office for an 

in-person deposition bllt that he would be available for a deposition 

over the telephone. Saylik's attorney also informed Walker's attorney 

that he would have to submit Saylik's testimony over the telephone 

during the trial. Walker's attorney strongly opposed to both the 

telephonic deposition and the trial testimony over the telephone (CP 

235- 236). 

Walker's attorney refused to take the deposition of Saylik over 

the telephone and filed his "Motion to Compel Deposition of Plaintiff' 

in their office in Everett Washington (CP 224-250). 

Saylik filed his "Response and Declaration in Opposition to 

Motion to Compel" and repeated nine different times the fact that 

Saylik lived in Ankara, Turkey, could not be in their office, in Everett, 

but that he would be available over the telephone for his deposition 

(CP 219-223). In his same response, Saylik moved to strike certain 

attachments of Walker which were improperly attached to motion to 
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compel (CP 219). 

In his "Reply on Motion to Compel Deposition of Plaintiff," 

Walker went through extensive efforts in arguing as to why Saylik's 

telephonic deposition as well as his testimony over the telephone 

during the trial would not be acceptable to them [that Saylik must fly 

from Turkey to Everett for his deposition and for his testimony during 

the trial] (CP 214-217). 

Finally, on 01-12-2010, Commissioner A. J. Bedle ofthe 

superior court allowed Saylik to remain in Ankara, Turkey, and 

ordered Walker to take Saylik's deposition by webcam over the 

Internet to be done on 01-29-2010 (CP 212). 

The deposition was taken over Internet webcam (on 01-29-

2010) by Walker's attorney as the adverse party (CP 145-157). During 

the deposition, Saylik repeated the fact that he lived in Eryaman, 

Turkey, [near Ankara]. (CP 147, line 24 of its page 7). 

The parties went through an arbitration hearing, after which 

Saylik filed for a Trial De Novo (CP 257-258). 

Almost two years after the deposition, on 10-28-2011, 

(approximately a week before the scheduled trial date of 11-08-2011), 

Walker demanded Saylik to appear at the trial. Next, he filed his 

"Motion in Limine" and a massive declaration (34 pages long with its 
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exhibits) in an effort to exclude Saylik's use of the transcript of his 

deposition in lieu of his live testimony during the trial [pursuant to 

Court Rule CR 32(a)(3)]. (CP 205-207; CP 171-204). 

In response, Saylik filed his "Motion for Protective Order" (CP 

158-160) together with the "Declaration of Ahmet Chabuk in Support 

for Protective Order and Sanctions" and attached a copy of the 

transcript ofthe deposition. (CP 140-157). 

Walker filed his massive "Defendant's Response to Plaintiffs 

Motion for Protective Order" (together with its exhibits -- 45 pages 

long in total (CP 93-137). 

In addition, (almost two years after the deposition was taken 

and five court days prior to day ofthe trial), on 11-01-2011, Walker's 

counsel apparently filed, noted, and mailed "Defendant's Motion for 

Bond Pursuant to RCW 4.84.210," received by Saylik's attorney on 11-

03-2011 - two court days prior to the day ofthe trial (CP 161-170). 

With his"Response of Plaintiff to Defendant's Motion for Bond 

Pursuant to RCW 4.84.210," Saylik objected to the bond as being 

untimely based on the fact that the notice of the motion was served 

less than five days notice prior to the hearing and also the request for 

bond under RCW 4.84.210 was at least two years too late and, 

therefore, it was waived pursuant to the holding of the Washington 
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Supreme Court in Swift v. Stine 3 Wash. Terr. 518 (Wash. Terr. 1888). 

Saylik attached to his response a copy of the Supreme Court's decision 

in the Swift case (CP 145-157). Saylik also asked for sanctions and 

attorneys fees against Walker (CP 81-92). 

Walker's attorney offered no arguments as to why the Swift 

decision of the Supreme Court should not apply in this case but 

claimed that she had emailed her motion to Saylik's attorney. To her 

motion, the attorney attached huge number of copies of prior email 

correspondence and documents between the attorneys (CP 93-137). 

On the day for the trial, the trial court denied Saylik's motion 

for protective order but provided that Saylik could testify in person, or 

telephonically, or via webcam (CP 76); granted Walker's motion in 

limine and prevented Saylik from using the transcript in lieu of his live 

testimony (CP 79-80); granted Walker's motion for bond and ordered 

Saylik to post $5000.00 bond within 90 days and, otherwise, the case 

would be dismissed. The trial date was rescheduled to March 20, 2012 

(CP 77-78). Saylik failed to post the bond. 

The notice of appeal to the Court of Appeals was filed on 11-21-

2011 (CP 73-75). 

In the Court of Appeals, on 11-21-2011, pursuant to RAP 

17-4 (b), Saylik filed his "Motion and Declaration on the Merits" with 
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his arguments that Rule CR 32(a)(3)(B) and (C) permitted Saylik to 

use transcript of his deposition since no reasons were offered against 

its use pursuant to CR 32(a)(3)(B) and (C); that the deposition was 

taken by the adverse party; that Walker's motion for bond, pursuant to 

RCW 4.84.210, should have been denied because it was waived since 

the demand was made approximately two years after the adverse party 

was notified of Saylik's overseas residence; that sanctions and 

attorneys fees should have been awarded to Saylik because Walker had 

provided no reasons or arguments as to why the Swift decision of the 

Washington Supreme Court and Rule CR 32(a)(3)(B) and (C) should 

not apply in this case to let Saylik use the transcript in lieu of his live 

testimony and without having to post a bond. 

In response, in the Court of Appeals, on 12-01-2011, Walker 

filed his massive volume of "Respondents' Answer to Petitioner's 

Motion on the Merits (174 pages long) without hardly arguing the real 

issues raised. The Court of Appeals took no further action on that 

motion. 

Again, in the Court of Appeals, pursuant to RAP 2.2 (a)(3), 

Saylik filed his motion for discretionary review because the 9o-days 

deadline to post the bond had not expired yet at that time. 

In his response, again with a massive volume of pages 
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(approximately 175 pages long), Walker filed his "Respondents' 

Answer to Petitioner's Motion for Discretionary Review" without 

hardly arguing the real issues raised. 

Initially, after the 90-days deadline had passed, the 

Commissioner of the Court of Appeals, by an apparent oversight on 

02-08-2012, dismissed the motion for discretionary review but soon 

corrected the oversight and, on 2-16-2012, granted the motion -- since 

the 90-days deadline to post the bond had already expired at that time. 

Meanwhile, back in the trial court, on 03-13-2012, the Order 

of Dismissal was entered (CP 71-72). Walker asked in the trial court for 

huge sums of attorneys fees and costs with a huge volume of "Motion 

for Prevailing Party Determination and Judgment on Arbitration 

Award" - filed on 03-16-2012 (CP 49-70). In her declaration for 

attorney's fees, the attorney, under penalty of perjury, asked for 

attorney's fees for work done in the Court of Appeals by misleadingly 

stating that Saylik's "discretionary appeal was dismissed" in the Court 

of Appeals on 02-08-2012 (CP 51). 

The said declaration was apparently signed on 03-15-2012 even 

though, a month earlier, on 2-16-2012, the Commissioner ofthe Court 

of Appeals had revised her ruling and ruled that "Upon proof that the 

complaint has been dismissed, Saylik's appeal will go forward 
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pursuant to RAP 2.2(a)(3)." Yet, Saylik asked for attorney's fees in the 

trial court for work done in the Court of Appeals (CP 51). 

Saylik submitted his objections with "Response to Motion for 

Prevailing Party Determination and Judgement on Arbitration Award 

for Fees and Costs" (CP 41-48). 

In her huge volume of "Reply Re: Motion for Fees and Costs" 

(37-pages long), Walker falsely claimed that "Mr. Chabuk was well

advised before undertaking the MAR appeal of the potential fees being 

awarded to the defendant," which is false (CP 5 -lines 12-13). 

The trial court awarded $8,755-40 against Saylik for attorney's 

fees and costs (CP 1). In violation of CR 52(a), no findings of fact and 

conclusions of law was entered. 

III. ARGUMENT 

3.1 The defendant and the trial court provided no 

reasons as why Saylik should not be permitted to use the 

transcript under Court Rule CR 32(a)(3). And no findings of 

fact and conclusions of law was entered even though it was 

required by Rule CR 52(a). 

Moreover, Rule CR 32(a)(3) allows Saylik to use the transcript 

in lieu of this live testimony. No reasons were offered against its use. 
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3.2. Trial court erred or abused its discretion when it 

overruled plaintiff's objections to defendant's untimely 

service of motion for bond under CR 6{d), which requires 

Walker to serve his motion"not less than 5 days before the 

time specified for the hearing. 

The motion for request for bond was filed on the last day it 

could have been filed and placed in a u.s. mailbox on the same 

deadline under Court Rule CR 6(d). By the time it was delivered, there 

were only two or three court days left before the scheduled hearing. 

The defendant's attorney submitted copies of a number of email 

communications between the attorneys and claimed that she had 

emailed the motion on the deadline, which Saylik did not receive until 

the printed copy was delivered. And service of the motion was 

untimely. 

3.3. Trial court erred or abused its discretion when it 

overruled plaintiff's objections to defendant's request for 

bond as being untimely and waived pursuant to holding of 

the Washington Supreme Court in Swift v. Stine, 3 Wash. 

Terr. 518 (Wash. Terr. 1888). 

In the case at bar, the request for bond under RCW 4.84.210 
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was made two or three days before the trial date and it was at least two 

years too late. Therefore, it was waived pursuant to holding of the 

Washington Supreme Court in Swift v. Stine 3 Wash. Terr. S18 (Wash. 

Terr. 1888). 

3-4. Trial court erred or abused its discretion when it denied 

plaintiffs motion for protective order, granted defendant's motion in 

limine, and prevented plaintiff from using transcript of his deposition 

under CR 32(a)(3). 

Rule CR 32(a)(3)(B) and (C) provides in pertinent part: 

"The deposition of a witness, whether or not a party, may 
be used by any party for any purpose if the court finds: 
(A) that the witness is dead; or (B) that the witness 
resides out of the county and more than 20 miles from 
the place of trial, unless it appears that the absence of the 
witness was procured by the party offering the 
deposition or unless the witness is an out-of-state expert