67951-1

67951-1

No. 67951-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VAHIT SAYLIK

Petitioner,

v.

DAVID WALKER and JANE DOE WALKER, husband and
wife,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Megan Otis Masonholder
WSBA #29495
Attorney for Respondents

Anderson Hunter Law Firm, P.S.
2707 Colby Avenue, Suite 1001
PO Box 5397
Everett, Washington 98206-3566
Telephone: (425) 252-5161
Facsimile: (425) 258-3345
Email: mmasonholder@andersonhunterlaw.com

3

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

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

As pled by Saylik, the trial court's granting of the motion for bond, granting Saylik's motion in limine regarding Saylik's trial attendance (via phone or webcam), and denial of Saylik's motion for protective order attempting to quash the notice of trial attendance are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard.

The trial court abuses its discretion only when its decision is manifestly unreasonable, or based upon untenable grounds or reasons.²

A trial court's decision with respect to the application of judicial estoppel is reviewed for abuse of discretion.³ “A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision or order is manifestly unreasonable, exercised on untenable grounds, or exercised for untenable reasons.”⁴

B. Trial Court Did not Abuse Discretion in Denial of Motion for Protective Order and Grant of Motion for Saylik’s Trial Attendance Telephonically

A plaintiff in a personal injury case where liability is in dispute when two Notices of Trial Attendance have been served should not, as a matter of law, be entitled to submit only deposition testimony to the jury.

No legal authority was submitted for the proposition that a plaintiff who relocated out of the country was allowed to submit his discovery deposition pursuant to CR 32 in lieu of live trial attendance when Notices of Trial Attendance were provided. Washington cases involving CR 32(a)(3)(B) deal with witnesses, and primarily expert witnesses, not a party to an action upon which a Notice of Trial Attendance was served.

Exceptional circumstances do not exist that would justify presenting deposition testimony when oral testimony is available. Courts

² *Kleyer v. Harborview Med. Ctr.*, 76 Wash.App. 542, 545, 887 P.2d 468 (1995) (superseded by statute on unrelated issue).

³ *Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.*, 160 Wash.2d 535, 538, 160 P.3d 13 (2007).

⁴ *Noble v. Safe Harbor Family Pres. Trust*, 167 Wash.2d 11, 17, 216 P.3d 1007 (2009).

favor live testimony. Saylik has absented himself from these proceedings for an unknown reason and with no explanation of extenuating circumstances. This is not a basis under CR 32 to substitute his deposition testimony for in-person testimony.

Pursuant to CR 43, nonresident parties may be compelled to attend trial in state by service of a notice to attend on local counsel and the trial court has authority to enforce the notice to attend trial.⁵ In vacating the trial court's order striking the notice of trial attendance, the court in *Campbell* holds under CR 43(f)(1) that nonresident parties may be "compelled" to attend trial by service of a notice to attend on local counsel.⁶ The testimony of an adverse party was the primary issue in *Campbell* and the court held:⁷

A party to an action or proceeding shall not be precluded from examining the adverse party as a witness at the trial. The testimony of a party at the trial may be rebutted by adverse testimony. If a party refuses to attend and testify at the trial, his complaint, answer or reply may be stricken out, and judgment taken against him, and he may also, in the discretion of the court, be proceeded against as in other cases of contempt; provided that this rule shall not be construed so as to compel any person to answer any question where such answer may tend to incriminate himself.

⁵ *Esparza v. Skyreach Equipment, Inc.* 103 Wash.App. 916, 15 P.3d 188, rev. den. 144 Wn.2d 1004 (2000) and *Campbell v. A. H. Robins Co., Inc.*, 32 Wash.App. 98, 645 P.2d 1138 (1982).

⁶ *Campbell*, supra, at 106.

⁷ 32 Wn.App 98, 104, 645 P.2d 1138 (1982).

When the proponent of the testimony and the deponent are the same, the proponent bears the burden of demonstrating to the trial court that the proponent has not procured his own absence from the trial.⁸ The issue is whether a plaintiff residing far enough away so as to be unavailable under CR 32 “procures his own absence” when he chooses to voluntarily not appear for trial without any declaration or offer of proof as to meeting the criteria of CR 32(a)(3)(C) regarding age, illness or infirmity. No such proof or even explanation has been provided to justify Saylik’s unavailability even by telephone at the time of trial (as opposed to January 2010).

The evidence presented by counsel deals with Saylik’s residence and situation two years ago. Mr. Chabuk’s declaration provided that Saylik is in Ankara, Turkey, but it lacked any showing of how he

⁸ *Clarendon Trust v. Dwek*, 970 F.2d 990, 36 Fed. R. Evid. Serv. 183, 23 Fed. R. Serv. 3d 740 (1st Cir. 1992). A party who procures his or her own absence from the trial by choosing to leave the country out of fear of being arrested as an illegal alien is not eligible to invoke the rule allowing for the admission of deposition testimony, particularly where the plaintiff makes scant effort to make other arrangements to appear temporarily for trial or to make him- or herself available for remote testimony. *Garcia-Martinez v. City and County of Denver*, 392 F.3d 1187, 66 Fed. R. Evid. Serv. 59 (10th Cir. 2004). It has been held that a trial court is allowed “a reasonable discretion” in determining whether the provisions of this rule have been satisfied, so as to allow the reading of a deposition. *Phelps Roofing Co. v. Johnson*, 368 S.W.2d 320 (Ky.1963). In this case, there was evidence that Mauney was in Japan and that he had been denied a visa to return to this country for the trial. We do not believe the trial judge abused his discretion in allowing the use of his pre-trial deposition.

obtained that personal knowledge or when it was obtained. There is no declaration in support of the contention that Saylik is otherwise unable to testify on his own behalf. The unavailability of the deponent is to be determined at the time his deposition is offered into evidence.⁹ Federal courts, when applying the 100-mile limitation of FRCP 32(a)(3)(B), determine the proximity of the witness to the place of trial as of the time at which the deposition is offered, not two years prior.

Legal authority is contrary to the relief requested by Saylik. The trial court did not abuse its discretion to disallow the admission of the deposition into evidence under CR 32 in lieu of live testimony.¹⁰ CR 32(a)(3) provides that when certain defined instances of unavailability exist, a trial court may admit a witness's deposition as a substitute for his testimony.¹¹

In *Sutton v. Shufelberger*,¹² the court held that a party seeking to introduce the deposition of a witness is required to make a showing that due diligence was exercised in attempting to procure the attendance of

⁹ *Sutton v. Shufelberger*, 31 Wn.App. 579, 643 P.2d 920(1982), citing *Mills v. Dortch*, 142 N.J.Super. 410, 361 A.2d 606 (1976).

¹⁰ See *Hammond v. Braden*, 16 Wash.App. 773, 776, 559 P.2d 1357 (1977).

¹¹ *Hammond*, 16 Wash.App. at 774-75, 559 P.2d 1357.

¹² 31 Wash.App. 579, 643 P.2d 920 (1982).

the witness at trial.¹³ The court stated, “*In the absence of such a showing the refusal to permit the introduction of the deposition is not an abuse of discretion.*”¹⁴ It also held that CR 32(a) “is predicated upon the unavailability of the deponent-witness to testify at trial.”¹⁵

The factual support for such a contention is also lacking. No evidence was submitted from Saylik himself at the time of trial. In fact, since his deposition in January of 2010, nothing from Saylik via deposition, testimony, or supplementation to his discovery responses has been received.

The defense proposed an alternative agreement to in lieu of personal trial attendance to have Saylik testify telephonically to avoid the unduly burdensome travel from Turkey for his personal injury trial. Saylik’s counsel refused it without any indication from his client why it was not feasible. The proffered agreement to allow plaintiff to testify telephonically to avoid the travel burden has been refused out of hand without explanation.

¹³ See also *Palfy v. Rice*, 473 P.2d 606 (Alaska 1970); 8 C. Wright & A. Miller, *Federal Practice* s 2146 (1970).

¹⁴ *Sutton*, *supra*, at 585.

¹⁵ *Id.*, citing *Vannoy v. Pacific Power & Light Co.*, 59 Wash.2d 623, 369 P.2d 848 (1962).

In *Esparza v. Skyreach Equipment, Inc.*,¹⁶ the court concluded that the trial court did not err in refusing to quash a Notice of Trial Attendance sent to the defendant's corporate president. In an attempt to show his trial attendance and travel from Alberta, Canada was not necessary and was burdensome, the witness himself submitted a declaration stating he had no personal knowledge regarding the incident in question. Despite this, the court ruled the trial court did not err. The court ruled that under CR 43 (f)(1), nonresident parties may be 'compelled' to attend trial in Washington by service of a notice to attend on local counsel."¹⁷ The court in *Esparza* held that CR 43(f)(1) required a party to be examined at the instance of any adverse party and allowed the court to protect a party to allow testimony by phone or videotape subject to CR 32.¹⁸ The appellate court upheld the trial court's requirement that the party attend trial, despite the claimed burden.¹⁹

The court discussed whether trial attendance required a showing of necessity based on the relevant information the witness could offer.

¹⁶ 103, Wn. App. 916, 15 P.3d 188, rev. den. 144 Wn.2d 1004 (2000).

¹⁷ *Id.*, citing *Campbell v. A.H. Robins Co., Inc.*, 32 Wash.App. 98, 107, 645 P.2d 1138 (1982).

¹⁸ *Esparza, supra*, at 922-23.

¹⁹ *Id.*

In the case at hand, the party was a personal injury plaintiff in a disputed liability case. His testimony was necessary and Walker was entitled to cross examine him at trial.

The courts in Washington have held that under CR 43(f)(1), nonresident parties may be “compelled” to attend trial in Washington by service of a notice to attend on local counsel. This “compulsion” does not require service of a subpoena or involve the trial court in a direct exercise of the subpoena power over a nonresident. The “compulsory” power of a CR 43(f) notice to appear depends rather on the power of the court over the parties to the action, and the expectation that a party faced with sanctions will exercise its own power over its managing agents. A party is already subject to the jurisdiction of the court.

In conclusion, the trial court was legally and factually supported in its ruling to deny plaintiff’s motion to quash the Notice of Trial Attendance and allow the plaintiff’s deposition transcript to be read to the jury in lieu of the plaintiff’s live testimony. No evidence was presented to justify Saylik’s failure to participate in his own trial to justify application of CR 32(a)(3)(B) or (C).

C. Court's Grant of Motion for Bond Pursuant to RCW 4.84.210 Was Proper.

RCW 4.84.210 states, in part, "When a plaintiff in an action... resides out of the county...security for the costs and charges which may be awarded against such plaintiff may be required by the defendant." When so required by the court in an amount deemed sufficient security, the proceedings are stayed until the bond is filed with the clerk. The statute does not have a time frame or set forth any temporal limitations for when the request for bond can be brought.

In *White Coral Corporation v. Geysler Giant Clam Farms, LLC*,²⁰ the trial court's ruling requiring the bond and dismissing the action after the plaintiff failed to post the bond was upheld.

Saylik attempts to use a case from 1888 for the proposition that Walker waived his right to the bond. This case is not applicable to the factual circumstances contained in this matter because Walker did not learn until correspondence of October 20, 2011, and through declaration of counsel October 31, 2010, that his client was permanently residing outside the country at the time of trial, despite the residence as pled in the Complaint, Saylik's responses to discovery, and former declaration of counsel stating he had to "travel" to Turkey for an "extended" stay.

²⁰ 145 Wn. App. 862 (2008).

The Motion for Bond was filed the *next day* after receiving reliable evidence in the form of counsel's declaration that Saylik resided out of the country at the time of trial.

As for the timing of the motion, a court may consider any motion on the day of the trial. Plaintiff did not ask for a continuance of the motion and responded to the motion. Saylik did not indicate to the court any prejudice as a result of the timing of the motion. In fact, Plaintiff's own motion for a protective order was heard on shortened time three court days prior to trial by agreement. Moreover, the declaration of service does indicate that the motion was faxed and e-mailed two days prior to the mailed copy. The trial court was within its discretion to hear the matter and rule. Walker had a year and ten months to bring a motion to quash the original Notice of Trial Attendance (dates January 11, 2010) and he failed to do so.

In *Bank of America, N.T. & S.A. v. Hubert*, the trial court denied a motion to amend a pleading made the day of a hearing on summary judgment motions made by both parties because of the "late point" at which the motion was made.²¹ The Supreme Court held that the denial of the motion to amend was **not** an abuse of discretion on two alternative

²¹ *Bank of America, N.T. & S.A. v. Hubert*, 153 Wn.2d 102, 122, 101 P.3d 409 (2004).

grounds, first, that the motion was made on the day of hearing; and second, that it lacked a factual basis.²²

Finally, to remedy any potential prejudice faced by the plaintiff, the judge allowed the trial date to be continued (rather than the plaintiff's Complaint stricken) so that he could make himself available to testify telephonically. The trial judge further allowed for an additional *ninety (90)* days for the bond to be posted. Thus, the allegation that Walker was not entitled his right to request a bond due to the delay in requesting it was effectively neutralized by allowing three months leave to comply with the trial court's ruling.

D. Conclusion

Judge Bowden affirmed the expectation that Saylik would be present (whether in person, telephonically, or by webcam) for direct and cross examination at his own personal injury trial where liability was disputed and notice of trial attendance was provided. Rather than imposing a harsher sanction of striking plaintiff's Complaint, which it had the authority to do for Saylik's failure to appear or participate at the time of trial, Judge Bowden did not abuse his discretion in allowing plaintiff to proceed pursuant to the notice via telephone or webcam. Saylik has at each step failed to put forward any evidence as to why a

²² *Id.* at 122, 101 P.3d 409.

telephonic appearance or appearance by webcam is prejudicial, arbitrary or capricious. This requirement was fair.

Likewise, the expectation that a plaintiff seeking trial de novo should post a bond where he has no ties to this country is also reasonable and fair. Noting that Saylik apparently had no ties left to this country and did not even intend to be present at his own personal injury trial, Walker sought a bond in order to cover their attorneys' fees in case Saylik failed to better his position from that obtained at arbitration. Judge Bowden followed RCW 4.84.210 in setting a bond amount where the trial was a de novo appeal triggering the potential for an award of attorneys' fees and allowing Saylik ninety (90) days to fulfill it. Judge Bowden further followed RCW 4.84.230 in dismissing the matter for failure to post the bond.

Such orders were justified, not outside the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings, and were not legal error or abuse of discretion. Judge Bowden's orders in this matter should be affirmed.

V. NO BASIS FOR AWARD OF FEES TO SAYLIK; FEES AWARDED TO WALKER WERE PROPER

Saylik's request for attorneys' fees should be denied. Saylik requests fees based on the underlying trial court motions. He cites no basis for an award of fees. To the contrary, Walker has incurred

additional attorneys' fees and costs responding to Saylik's previous trial de novo where he failed to improve his position and improper interlocutory appeal.

At every step, counsel for Saylik has requested fees, costs, sanctions, and alleged Walker's exercise of filing motions that the court ultimately *granted* was an "abuse of process." Sanctions are not the appropriate result for serving a Notice of Trial Attendance upon a plaintiff in a personal injury matter without any knowledge of extenuating circumstances that would prevent the plaintiff from attending trial or testifying telephonically.

Walker was entitled to fees as the prevailing party due to Saylik's failure to improve upon the arbitration award. The court followed MAR 7.3 which requires that those costs and fees "shall" be assessed and awarded against a party who appeals the award and fails to improve the party's position on the trial de novo. Thus, Respondent Walker was entitled to an award of fees for costs and fees incurred after Appellant's filing of the request for trial de novo.²³ The attorneys' fees awarded by the trial court to Walker were proper and required by statute.

²³ MAR 7.3. Please note that fees incurred as a result of Saylik's filing of the earlier interlocutory appeal were not requested at the hearing for fees and were not awarded. Only fees incurred at the trial court level proceedings were requested and awarded.

Fees and costs awarded were also sufficiently supported in the record by declaration of counsel. Evidence at the trial court supported the conclusion that the fees awarded were reasonable and necessary in terms of the number of hours spent, the type and category of work performed, the reasonable and customary hourly rate(s) charged (utilizing associate level rates) in Snohomish County for the type of work performed. The judgment and trial court's award of fees to Walker should also be affirmed.

VI. WALKER' REQUESTS ATTORNEYS' FEES ON APPEAL

Pursuant to MAR 7.3, RAP 18, Walker is now requesting fees incurred in the interlocutory appeal in addition to fees and costs incurred in the appeal as a matter of right in addition thereto. Walker is requesting that these fees be awarded and RAP 18.9, RCW 4.84.185 under a frivolous appeal standard.²⁴